SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JIM ERIC CHANDLER,

Appellant,

Case No. 69,708

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida. Appellant will be referred to, additionally, by name and as defendant.

Appellee was the prosecution and will be referred to, additionally, as the State of Florida.

The symbol "R" will refer to that portion of the record on appeal which includes motions, memoranda, orders, jury instructions, judicial findings and the like. The symbol "T" will refer to the motion and trial proceedings contained in volumes I through VI. The symbol "JT" will refer to the jury selection portion of the trial which is contained, separately, in volumes I through V.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant's sentence of death, on two counts, was reversed and remanded for a new penalty phase proceeding before a jury.

Chandler v. State, 442 So. 2d 171(Fla. 1983).

After remand, the parties stipulated to a change of venue from Indian River County (the site of the original trial) to St. Lucie County. The penalty proceeding was conducted before a jury in September, 1986. The jury returned an advisory verdict of death, in both counts, on September 17, 1986.

On September 18, 1986, the court imposed a sentence of death in both counts. On the same day the trial court entered its findings in support of the death sentence.

The defendant took this timely appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. VOIR DIRE

During voir dire, potential jurors Bergstrom, Mellin and Ruggirello admitted to having heard or read about the case before. (263,326,355). The Court retired to the jury room with counsel to question these potential jurors individually. (JT 383-84). The defendant expressly waived his presence at this questioning. (JT 384-385). After the questioning completed, the Court entertained challenges for cause these potential jurors. The defendant was not informed that cause challenges would be heard at that time. The defendant did not expressly waive his presence at the hearing of these cause challenges. Defense counsel did not consult with the defendant prior to challenging any of these potential jurors for cause. Defense counsel moved to excuse each of these potential jurors for cause. The Court denied each motion. (404-09) Counsel later peremptorily challenged potential jurors Mellin, Bergstrom and Ruggirello. (JT 415) Later, the defendant exhausted his allotment of peremptory challenges and the Court declined to allot additional peremptory challenges. (JT 896)

II. THE TRIAL

On September 23, 1980, Harold and Rachel Steinberger were found dead approximately 150 feet behind their home in Sebastian, Florida. (T.187,194). The victims had been murdered with a heavy blunt instrument and each victim suffered mutiple postmortum knife wounds. (T.427,393-394).

Mr. and Mrs. Steinberger's bodies were first found and reported by Jim Chandler who said that he found them while mowing and cleaning up the Steinberger's yard. The bodies were discovered on Wednesday, July 23, 1980. Two days before this date, Chandler acknowledged first meeting Mr. and Mrs. Steinberger, going to their house and agreeing to mow their yard on the following day. Chandler stated that he didn't get around to mowing the yard until Wednesday. The defendant acknowledged that he had lived in the same house approximately five or six months before the homicides occurred. (T.202-205).

Detective Phil Redstone testified that Chandler made a series of unrecorded, unwitnessed statements beginning shortly after the bodies were discovered and continuing for several days. These statements, as reported by Detective Redstone, were enigmatic, but damaging.

There was no sign of forced entry into the home. (T.213). Mrs. Steinberger was dressed in a housecoat and slippers. Mr. Steinberger was casually dressed, but his hands were bound behind his back with a dog leash. (T. 195-196). The crime scene was processed with fingerprint powder with no result. (216 - 217). A pair of rubber gloves were found on the kitchen

counter. (T.217). Marlboro brand cigarette buts were found in the living room area in a paper grocery bag. (T. 220). Other items seized from the house during the crime scene search include a calculator box, calculator warranty papers and a calculator tape. (T.218). Detective Redstone described a conversation that occurred on Friday, July 25 at 11:52 A.M. during which Chandler denied doing the murder. Chandler did, according to Detective Redstone, state "if it was me I woulda' used the gloves like the ones that were on the kitchen counter so as not to leave any fingerprints." (T.229). It is never established, that he, could not have seen the gloves on the counter after the homicides were reported.

On Friday, July 25, at approximately 2:30 P.M., Detective Redstone had another unwitnessed, unrecorded conversation with Chandler. During the course of this conversation, Chandler offered an explanation for why there was no evidence of a struggle. According to Detective Redstone, Chandler said there was no sign of a struggle because "if your wife had a knife to her throat you wouldn't do anything either." (T. 232).

On Saturday, July 26, Detective Redstone initiated another unwitnessed, unrecorded conversation with the defendant. Detective Redstone broached the subject of the location of the murder weapon. Detective Redstone testified that Chandler said "The knife was in the river and he said the bat was in a body of water that had no tide and current." (T. 233). On cross-examination, however, Detective Redstone testified that he first

learned about the baseball bat on Friday, July 25 while the defendant was in a car with Chief Cummings and Detective Redstone was following in a separate car. Chief Cummings stopped his car, got out, ran back and told Detective Redstone something about a baseball bat. (T. 320-321).

Detective Redstone described another unwitnessed, unrecorded, undated conversation with the defendant. During the course of this conversation, the defendant said "he picked up the boy... for an alibi." (T.235-236). When the defendant had first reported finding the bodies, he was with a fifteen year old youngster named Tibbets.

The evidence fails to show how or why or where certain personal property was found except that it was found in a canal containing water hyacinths. Detective Redstone testified that identification and a wallet belonging to Mr. Steinberger were found in the canal close to where a baseball bat was found. The evidence failed to show when these items were found or, indeed, that they were even found in the same county. (T.239-240).

There were other items of evidence directly linked to the defendant. These items can be described as follows:

- 1. Defendant was expected to go to work for Lynn Meyers on Monday, July 21, 1987, but failed to appear. (T. 453). There was no evidence to establish that the time of death was on Monday, July 21.
 - 2. Nancy Doyle saw the defendant at the Shedhous Tavern

- at 12:00 P.M. noon on Tuesday, July 22, where he sold two rings to Ms. Doyle. (T. 459). The initials on these rings linked them to the victims. See testimony of John Karasek (T. 520-521). There was, however, no testimony from a testifying medical expert that the time of death was on Tuesday, July 22.
- 3. Morell Copp testified that the defendant offered certain items for sale at the Sportsmans Lounge on Tuesday, July 22 between 1:00 P.m. and 2:00 P.M. in the afternoon. The items shown included a calculator, television and clock radio. Mr. Copp was unable to identify the clock radio in trial as being the same one offered for sale. He was likewise unable to positively indentify the television. Mr. Copp did positively identify the calculator which is definitely linked to the Steinberger home by the serial numbers on the warranty card. (T. 470). Copp purchased the calculator from Chandler.
- 4. Dave Dunham testified that he was present when Morell Copp inspected various items in the defendant's trunk on the early afternoon of Tuesday, July 22. (T.482). Dunham also saw the television, calculator and a "few odds and ends."

 Dunham was able to positively identify state's exhibit 7P and 15P. as items that were in the trunk. Dunham witnessed Morell Copp purchase the calculator from the defendant. Dunham testified that the defendant was trying to sell these things to raise money to bail his brother out of jail. (T. 488-489). Dunham saw the same items, less the calculator, at Bridget Morelli's

apartment on the evening of Tuesday, July 22. (T. 490). Dunham purchased the T.V. from Chandler for \$15.00 the next day (T. 491).

- 5. Bridget Morelli saw the defendant on Saturday or Sunday preceding the homicides. This meeting the defendant told Ms. Morelli that he was going to Fort Lauderdale for a couple of days. On Monday, July 21, at approximately 5:00 P.M., Morelli received a telephone call from Chandler where he stated that he was leaving for Fort Lauderdale. (T. 503). On the afternoon of Tuesday, July 22, Morelli received another phone call from the defendant stating that he had returned early from Fort Lauderdale. The defendant came to the Shedhous for a few drinks at 3:00 P.M. (T. 502). Chandler and Morelli went to dinner early in the evening. (T.504). Chandler stored several items at Morelli's apartment, including a television and a clock radio. (T.505-506).
- 6. John Karasek testified that he was a next door neighbor of the Steinbergers for nineteen years in Fort Lauderdale.

 (T.514). He testified that the Steinbergers were notsociable people and that Mrs. Steinberger was very ill. (T. 514-515).

 Karasek was unable to positively identify the clock radio.

 (T. 520). He did positively identify the television as belonging to the Steinbergers. (T.519-520). Karasek also testified that Rachel Steinberger's maiden name was "Muchler." (T. 521).

Matthew McCormick, Jr. testified, generally, that the defendant was on parole for the offense of kidnapping at the

time of these murders. (T.525).

Lillian Messer testified that her youngest son (and only other son) was not jailed in Fort Lauderdale in July, 1980.

(T.529). Mrs. Messer has earlier testified that she had purchased Jim Chandler a fillet knife for Christmas, 1979. (T. 405).

Mrs. Messer could not positively identify the fillet knife in evidence and Dr. Cox described the knife in evidence as a "square back" and inconsistent with the wounds he observed.

(T.431).

Lowell Wolfe testified, generally, as to similar fact crimes which occurred in the State of Texas on September 11, 1973.

Detective Redstone testified as to hearsay statements of three witnesses who did not testify. In addition, Detective Redstone testified as to what the estimated time of death was, but there was no testimony of estimated time of death from Dr. Cox. The hearsay declarations are:

- 1. Detective Redstone testified as to the results of an expert examination performed by Dan Nippes, a criminalist at the Indian River Crime Laboratory.
- 2. Detective Redstone described information obtained purely second-hand from another officer:

Detective Hamilton displayed his blue light and attempted to stop the defendant. A chase ensued down towards Sebastian. A roadblock was set up during the chase. Chandler picked up a .22 rifle from in the cab of the vehicle... and pointed it in the direction of Detective Hamilton and threatened him with it during the chase.

Detective Redstone identified Exhibit 19P as being "in fact the rifle that he (the defendant) pointed at Detective Hamilton." (T.339-340).

- 3. Detective Redstone testified that Chief Cummings said that the bodies had not been disturbed in any way. (T.195).
- 4. Detective Redstone testified that "the time of death was on the 22nd, on Tuesday between 10:00 A.M. and 2:00 P.M. (T.218-220). It should be noted that time of death was never established by Dr. Cox during the course of his testimony.

Appellant called Dr. Rifkin (a clinical psychologist),

Jerald Minor (the defendant's sister), Jeff Chandler (the defendant's brother), Ernest Messer (the defendant's step-father), and

Lillian Messer (the defendant's mother).

The jury returned an advisory verdict of death, voting 12 to 0. (R.298).

The trial court imposed a sentence of death, on both counts. (R.301-302). The trial court found the existence of six (6) aggravating factors. (R.327-330). The trial court found existence of no mitigating factors. (R.330).

POINTS INVOLVED

- I. THE COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, AND DENIED APPELLANT THE RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION, BY ADMITTING HEARSAY STATEMENTS WHERE THE HEARSAY DECLARANTS NEVER APPEARED BEFORE THE PENALTY PHASE JUDGE AND JURY.
 - A. The right to confrontation is a fundamental right which attaches to the penalty phase under Florida Statute 921.141.
 - B. The complained of hearsay was material, persuasively argued, and prejudicial.
 - C. Florida Statutes 921.141 is facially unconstitutional to the extent that it denies all confrontation and any opportunity for cross-examination.
 - D. Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, the constitutionality of Florida Statute 921.141, even under the specific facts of this case and the relaxed evidence rules contained therein, appellant was denied entirely the fundamental right of confrontation and cross-examination.
 - E. The harmless rule does not apply where there has been a complete denial of confrontation and cross-examination of material witnesses.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE A VOLUNTARINESS JURY INSTRUCTION.
- III. THE STATE IMPERMISSABLY COMMENTED ON THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HEARING AND RULING ON CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AS TO POTENTIAL JURORS RUGGRIRELLO, MELLIN AND BERGSTROM IN THE APPELLANT'S ABSENCE.
 - A. The right to be present during all critical stages attaches to the exercise of cause challenges to potential jurors.
 - B. The appellant's waiver of presence was limited in scope and did not extend to the exercise of cause challenges.
 - C. The prejudice to appellant cannot be measured.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT T

The trial court erroneously admitted hearsay where either the declarant was not shown to be unavailable or the declaration did not fall into a firmly rooted hearsay exception. Appellant submits that Florida Statute 921.141 is unconstitutional on its face, and under the facts of this case, to the extent it authorized admission of hearsay in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 16. Appellant submits that the complained of hearsay was "prejudicial" and, therefore, not subject to the harmless-error rule. Appellant argues that the harmless-error rule does not apply where there is a complete denial of all opportunity for confrontation and cross-examination.

POINT II

The trial court comitted fundamental error in not allowing appellant to explain the circumstances surrounding his statements. Although the previous "law of the case" precluded relitigation of the legal admissability of statements, appellant was entitled to a jury instruction on voluntariness and to argue the appropriate supporting facts to the jury on the issue of factual voluntariness.

POINT III

The prosecutor's improper comment, under the facts of this case, denied appellant a fair trial. As detailed in Point I, there was extensive hearsay admitted without any opportunity to confront or cross-examine it. The effect of the comment was to highlight the appellant's lack of "explanation" for

this hearsay. Florida Statute 921.141 effectively shifts the burden of going forward to the accused in violation of <u>Sandstrom</u> v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed. 2nd 39 (1979).

POINT IV

The trial court improperly entertained and decided three challenges for cause as to potential jurors in the involuntary absence of the appellant. Appellant submits that challenges for cause are a critical stage of the prosecution and appellant was entitled to be present. Appellant contends that his waiver of presence did not extend to the exercise of challenges.

Appellant argues that the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant was not prejudiced by this error.

POINT I

THE COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, AND DENIED APPELLANT THE RIGHT OF CONFRONT-ATION, BY ADMITTING HEARSAY STATEMENTS WHERE THE HEARSAY DECLARANTS NEVER APPEARED BEFORE THE PENALTY PHASE JUDGE AND JURY.

A) THE RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION IS A FUND-AMENTAL RIGHT WHICH ATTACHES TO THE PENALTY PHASE UNDER FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141

In <u>Pointer v. Texas</u>, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13

L.Ed. 2nd 923 (1965), the United States Supreme Court held
that "the Sixth Amendment right of an accused to confront the
witnesses against him is likewise a fundamental right and is
made obligatory on the states by the Fourteenth Amendment."

Id. at 403. In <u>Gardner v. Florida</u>, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct.

1197, 51 L.Ed. 2nd 393 (1977), this principal was extended
to the penalty phase under Florida's capital penalty sentencing
procedure. The Gardner court held:

We conclude that petitioner was denied due process of law when the death sentence was imposed, at least in part, on the basis of information which he had no opportunity to deny or explain.

43.0 U.S. at 362, 51 L.Ed. 2d at 404.

The Florida Supreme Court in <u>Engle v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983), cert. den., 465 U.S. 1074 (1984), adopted the foregoing principals of constitutional law and held:

The requirement of due process of law apply to all three phases of a capital case in the trial court: 1) The trial

in which the guilt or innocence of the defendant is determined; 2) the penalty phase before the jury; and 3) the final sentencing process by the Judge. Although the defendant has no substantive right to a prticular sentence within the range authorized by statute, sentencing is a critical stage in the criminal proceeding.

The Sixth Amendment right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him is a fundamental right which is made obligatory on the state by the due process of law clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The primary interest secured by, and the major reason underlying the confrontation clause, is the right of cross-examination. This right of confrontation protected by cross-examination is a right that has been applied to the sentencing process (citations omitted).

Id. at 813-814.

In <u>Specht v. Patterson</u>, 386 U.S. 605, 87 S.Ct. 1209, 18

L.Ed. 2nd 326 (1967), the United States Supreme Court addressed

the right of confrontation in the context of an habitual offender

proceeding. The court stated:

Due process, in other words, requires that he (the defendant) be present with counsel, have an opportunity to be heard, be confronted with witnesses against him, have the right to cross-examine, and to offer evidence of his own.

386 U.S. at 610, 18 L.Ed. 2d at 330.

It is, therefore, clear beyond all doubt that the confrontation clause continues to apply in the penalty phase under Florida Statute 921.141.

B. THE COMPLAINED OF HEARSAY WAS MATERIAL, PERSUASIVELY ARGUED, AND PREJUDICIAL.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires that an accused be allowed to confront the witnesses against him at trial, to cross-examine these witnesses at trial, and to object to the introduction of hearsay---except to the extent that the hearsay falls within certain well recognized exceptions to the hearsay rule. Over the adequate and repeated objection of appellant, the trial court allowed the instroduciton of hearsay testimony through the lead detective. Although a number of the declarants did testify during the penalty phase proceedings, and were subject to cross-examination, several other witnesses did not testify at all during the penalty phase proceeding. The admission of these non-testifying witnesses' statements was, under the circumstances of this penalty proceeding, reversible error.

The record shows that appellant did timely object to the admission of hearsay through the course of the trial. (T. 167-169, 171, 175, 193-195, 219, 222, 224, 225, 226, 230, 233, 238, 241, 243, 244, 331, 339, 340, 343, 345, 355). Many of these objections were subsequently cured by the actual testimony of the hearsay declarant during the penalty phase proceeding. Objection is being made, at this point, to the admission hearsay statements during the penalty phase proceeding where the declarant

did not appear before the court and was not subject to cross-examination.

The following hearsay declarations were admitted through Detective Phil Redstone by state examination and over defense objection:

- 1. <u>Dan Nippes</u>, a criminalist at the Indian River Crime Laboratory in Fort Pierce, Florida. Detective Redstone testified that Nippes had examined the knives contained in state's exhibit #85P. 1/According to Detective Redstone, Mr. Nippes compared "the holes in the shirt worn by the victim" with the knives. Detective Redstone went on to testify that "his opinion was that none of the knives submitted caused the wounds that were inflicted through the shirt." (T. 342-343).
- 2. <u>Detective Hamilton</u>. Detective Redstone testified that he gave orders to Detective Hamilton to arrest appellant. Detective Redstone described the following incident:

Detective Hamilton displayed his blue light and attempted to stop the defendant. A chase ensued down towards Sebastian. A roadblock was set up during the chase. Chandler picked up a 22 rifle from in the cab of the vehicle... and pointed it in the direction of Detective Hamilton and threatened him with it during the chase.

Detective Redstone acknowledged that his knowledge of this incident was purely second-hand in that he "took a statement from Detective Hamilton, Detective Brandees, and the other deputies that were involved in the chase and the roadblock

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ Exhibit #85P consisted of knives taken from the victims' kitchen.

in Sebastian."

Detective Redstone was requested by the state to identify Exhibit 19P as being "in fact the rifle that he (the defendant) pointed at Detective Hamilton." Detective Redstone did identify the rifle as being the same one that was pointed at Detective Hamilton. (T. 339-340).

3. Chief Cummings. Detective Redstone testified that Chief Cummings has told him that "none of the officers or Chandler who was there at the scene had disturbed the bodies." (T.195). This information was essential to Dr. Cox's testimony regarding the size of the knife wounds. Dr. Cox acknowledged that both width and depth of a wound can be affected by movement of the body after death. (T. 426-427). Thus, Chief Cumming's testimony was critical to the issue whether a suspect knife could be excluded. $\frac{2}{\sqrt{2}}$

^{2/} Detective Redstone testified that "the time of death was on the 22nd, on Tuesday between 10:00 and 2:00 P.M." (T. 218-220). Detective Redstone failed to describe how he was able to pinpoint the time of death with such precision. Although Assistant Medical Examiner Franklin H. Cox did testify during the penalty phase proceeding, he did not pinpoint a time of It should be noted that Dr. Schofield was the chief medical examiner who was in charge of the Steinberger autopsies and the author of the autopsy protocol. (T.385,387). The relative importance of Dr. Schofield's observation and opinions is demonstrated by the fact that Dr. Cox was not even present when the autopsy began (T.437). The inference is, therefore that Detective Redstone had some hearsay knowledge which would pinpoint the time of death, presumably the autopsy protocol of Dr. Schofield. There was no other evidence to establish the time of death with this degree of precision. It is extremely damaging that hearsay testimony was used to establish that the defendant was in possession of stolen property soon after the murders. It is even more damaging that testimony as to a time of death was allowed when it was based on nothing more than hearsay.

It is obvious that the foregoing hearsay is not merely incidental, or even cumulative, to the proof in appellant's penalty proceeding. The criminalist's hearsay testimony excluded the theory that the knife was obtained from the Steinbergers' kitchen. The inference is that the appellant brought the knife specifically to use force. The prosecutor argued this point persuasively in his closing:

The knife I submit to you that he used to stab with and we're gonna get to that in a minute was his knife. The knives that were taken from the Steinbergers' house were not the knives, any of those knives were not the ones used.

* * *

Now Mr. Udell is probably gonna' get up here and say to you that it wasn't premeditated. If it was premeditated he wouldn't have by chance found the bat, he would have taken the club with him to the house that he was going to use to kill them. He'll also might argue to you well that knife could have come from the The state hasn't proved it was the fillet knife. And we cannot show you beyond every doubt that it was the fillet I submit to you that circumstantially knife. we've proved to you that it was the fillet knife that his mother bought him. (T. 840-841) (emphasis supplied.

With respect to the hearsay testimony of Detective Hamilton, the prosecutor argued in closing:

I wonder if it...if it was a condition of his parole that he be allowed to carry around this rifle with him and point it at a sheriff's detective. This man who was worried about a guy selling marijuana cigarettes in a gas station where he worked didn't worry about carrying this rifle in his car with him. (T.853).

The prosecutor argued in closing that the size characteristics of the knife wounds were consistent with a fillet knife and inconsistent with the knives taken from the victim's kitchen.

(T. 840-841). The strength of this argument is predicated upon Chief Cumming's hearsay statement that the bodies had not been moved before Detective Redstone's arrival. See, testimony of Dr. Cox, re: "gaping". (T.425-427).

C. FLORIDA STATUTES 921.141 IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL TO THE EXTENT THAT IT DENIES ALL CONFRONTATION AND ANY OPPORTUNITY FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION.

Florida Statute 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985) provides, in part, as follows:

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