IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I: The admission of hearsay, pursuant to \$921.141(1) Fla. Stat. (1985), in the sentencing phase of a capital case is constitutional if the evidence is relevant and is fairly susceptible to rebuttal. Here, the hearsay evidence passes the test. The hearsay declarants had testified at the trial on the issue of guilt and there was no indication they were not available to the defense.

<u>POINT II</u>: The issue of voluntariness of an incriminating statement is not a proper matter for consideration by a sentencing jury, therefore, an instruction of this issue to such a jury would be improper. Further, there was no evidence of coercion to support the giving of the instruction.

<u>POINT III</u>: Appellant had already been found guilty of committing the murders. Logically, because appellant <u>was</u> the murderer, and there were no surviving witnesses, no one but appellant <u>could</u> know what happened. This single comment, for which a cautionary instruction was issued, was harmless.

<u>POINT IV</u>: Appellant's voluntary absence during voir dire of three veniremen continued into the time his counsel made challenges for cause based upon the veniremen's responses. However, because the trial judge denied the challenges for cause, and appellant returned for the peremptory, the issue of his absence is moot and is harmless because there can be no prejudice.

- 14 -

POINT I

FLORIDA STATUTE §921.141, CAPITAL FELONY SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS, IS CONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT ACCORDS THE DEFENDANT A FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO REBUT ANY HEARSAY STATEMENTS WHICH WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT.

A witness's testimony's status as hearsay does not itself require exclusion from the jurors' consideration in the context of the penalty phase of a capital trial. §921.141(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985); <u>Muehleman v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 310, 315 (Fla. 1987).

The admission of hearsay in the sentencing phase of a capital case is not unconstitutional. Florida Statute §921.141 has passed constitutional muster on this issue. <u>Alvord v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 533, 538-539 (Fla. 1985), certiorari denied, 428 U.S. 923, 96 S.Ct. 3234, 49 L.Ed.2d 1226, rehearing denied, 429 U.S. 874, 97 S.Ct. 195, 50 L.Ed.2d 157 (1976); <u>Perri v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 606, 607-608 (Fla. 1983); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 415, 419-420. <u>See</u>, <u>also Foster v. Strickland</u>, 517 F.2d 597 (U.S.D.C. No. Dist. Fla. 1981), reviewing §921.141(1). In <u>Muehleman</u> this Court recently reaffirmed the proposition that "the bottom line concern in questions involving the admissiblity of evidence is relevance." <u>Id.</u> There is no question that the complained of hearsay was relevant to the issues of premeditation and appellant's probation violation. (Appellant admits this in his initial brief at 16-19).

Further, section 921.141(1) provides that hearsay is admissible "provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements." The hearsay evidence herein was certainly susceptible to any fair rebuttal, exactly as contemplated by the statute. The hearsay evidence admitted herein included factual evidence of what Detective Hamilton (T339-340), and Chief Cummins (T195) observed, which, had the defense elected to attempt it, could have been subjected to possible rebuttal by calling the declarants themselves, or by presenting rebuttal witnesses, if any existed. Opinion evidence contained in Detective Redstone's testimony could have been challenged by presenting defense experts to rebut the State expert whose statements were the subject of Detective Redstone's complained of hearsay comment at T342-343. This was not collateral character evidence which carries a potential for abuse, but rather was hearsay evidence of an expert's opinion which presented the defendant with a fair opportunity to rebut the hearsay statements. Cf., Dragovich v. State, 492 So.2d 350, 355 (Fla. 1986).

Appellee submits the record of trial of the guilt phase of this case shows appellant would not have been successful had he attempted to rebut any of the complained of hearsay testimony at his resentencing.

Chief Cummins testified in the guilt phase of this trial (RI 2319-2331). He testified he did not move the victims' bodies before Detective Redstone arrived. (R2325-2326). The

- 16 -

objected to hearsay was that Cummins had told Detective Redstone "That none of the officers or Chandler who was there at the scene had disturbed the bodies." (T195).

Dan Nippes, a forensic chemist, testified in the guilt phase of the trial. (RI 2974-3015). He testified regarding knife-like cuts in Mr. Steinbergers' shirt and opined they were consistent with the victim being knifed after death. (RI 2995-2996). Similar testimony was presented regarding post-mortem knife-like cuts in Mrs. Steinbergers' robe and nightgown. (RI 2999). The cuts were made by a single-edged knife blade. (RI 3001). He examined the five knives which appellant's defense counsel asked him if he had received. (RI 3003). There was no blood, hair or physiological fluid of human origin on those knives. On recross examination by the defense, Mr. Nippes testified he did not believe further tests of those knives were warranted because of the negative results of the human traces tests. (RI 3013-3014).

The objected to testimony was testimony in which Detective Redstone stated what Mr. Nippes' opinion was. However, Detective Redstone also testified that an expert's opinion was not necessary to support the obvious fact that the holes in the victim's shirt were too small to have been made by the knives the prosecutor was then displaying. (T343).

Detective Hamilton also testified in the guilt phase of this case. (RI 3126-3139). He testified that, when he first spotted appellant, appellant was driving a truck, and Hamilton

- 17 -

followed him. Appellant picked up a rifle (State's Exhibit No. 19) and pointed the rifle at Hamilton. (RI 3128-3131). A high speed chase ensued, with Hamilton displaying his headlights and four-way flashers. Appellant was soon thereafter stopped by other law enforcement officers. (RI 3131).

The objected to testimony was that Hamilton displayed his <u>blue</u> lights (an error), a chase ensued, a roadblock was set up, appellant picked up a .22 calibre rifle and pointed the rifle at Hamilton, and the rifle in court was the same rifle. (T339-340).

Appellee submits the hearsay evidence admitted herein was relevant, and was susceptible to <u>fair</u> rebuttal. Appellant chose not to attempt to rebut Detective Redstone's testimony. The above references to the evidence presented at the guilt phase of trial show the declarants' own testimony was substantially the same as Redstone testified at resentencing. Attempts at rebuttal would likely only have highlighted the adverse testimony against appellant. Such highlighting would also likely have occurred had the State presented Nippes, Hamilton and Cummins in person at the resentencing hearing.

Finally, appellant argues the State made no showing that the hearsay declarants were "unavailable" for trial. (Appellant's initial brief at 25). Appellee submits that while this is true, there is, conversely, <u>nothing</u> to indicate the declarants were <u>not</u> available for appellant's use in "fair rebuttal" of Detective Redstone's testimony. See, Thompkins,

- 18 -

supra, where this court found any error harmless even after assuming the declarants were unavailable.

Under these circumstances an abuse of discretion by the trial court cannot be shown. The trial court's ruling on the appellant's objections to the admission of hearsay during the resentencing hearing should not be disturbed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A SENTENCING JURY INSTRUCTION UPON THE ISSUE OF VOLUNTARINESS OF AN INCRIMINATING STATEMENT.

The trial court refused to give the defense requested jury instruction which was the same as Florida Standard Jury Instruction 2.04(e) (R311) because it revisited a determination of fact made during the guilt phase of this case. The trial court agreed with the State's argument that the voluntariness of appellant's statements had been established during the guilt phase and was the law of the case for the penalty phase. (R789).

Appellant has produced no authority to support the giving of his requested instruction upon voluntariness in the <u>penalty</u> phase of a bifurcated jury trial <u>after</u> a jury has previously received the instruction in the guilt phase (RI3650) and returned guilty verdicts (RI3659-3661) based upon all the evidence. The standard sentencing jury instructions, as presented to the first jury, do not include such an instruction. Cf., RI 3865-3871.

Denial of the requested instruction was even more compelling because the record herein shows no indication whatsoever that appellant was coerced by threats or promises of favorable treatment to make his statements. Instructions should not be given when there is no evidence to which the instruction can be applied. <u>Butler v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1986); Buford v. Wainwright, 428 So.2d 1389 (Fla. 1983).

- 20 -

Contrary to appellant's suggestion in a note in his initial brief at 33, the trial court did not refuse to allow the appellant to explore the voluntariness of his statements. The record shows the trial court properly refused to allow appellant's counsel to make the sentencing phase a virtual retrial of the guilt phase, but the trial court in no way restricted the appellant's exploration of sentencing issues. (T163-166, 174-175, 813-814).

POINT III

COMMENT BY PROSECUTOR, DURING SENTENCING PHASE OF CAPITAL TRIAL, THAT "NO ONE KNOWS AT THIS POINT EXCEPT FOR MR. CHANDLER," CANNOT REASONABLY BE CONSIDERED A COMMENT UPON THE PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION BECAUSE MR. CHANDLER ALREADY STOOD CONVICTED, AND, COUPLED WITH A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION, THE SINGLE COMMENT WAS HARMLESS.

First, there is <u>no</u> doubt the specific comment complained of did not contribute to the <u>verdict</u>, therefore appellant's constitutional right to a fair trial was preserved. <u>See</u>, <u>State</u> <u>v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1136 (Fla. 1986). This appeal is from a resentencing hearing, not from a trial on the issue of guilt or innocence. Aggravating and mitigating factors <u>alone</u> are to be considered. §921.141(2) Fla. Stat. (1985).

Appellee submits that appellant already stood convicted before the jury at the time the prosecutor raised his objection to defense counsel's question which assumed facts not in evidence. (T433-435). Whether appellant struck his victim from behind or from the front would quite obviously be something known to appellant, therefore, appellee submits the prosecutor's statement:

No one knows at this point except Mr. Chandler.

is nothing more than a very obvious statement of a fact previously determined by the jury in appellant's trial in 1981 and which this Court affirmed in <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1983).

- 22 -

Because the only purpose for holding a hearing during the sentencing phase of a capital case in Florida is to consider whether aggravating and mitigating factors exist, and to weigh them, and not to reweigh the guilt of the convicted murderer, appellee submits the prosecutor's comment was, at worst, an irrelevant but harmless restatement of fact made as part of an argument against an objection by a defense counsel to a hypothetical question (which was similar to a hypothetical question asked earlier by defense counsel). (T422).

Nevertheless, the trial court, in order to correct any error, instructed the jury to disregard the prosecutor's comment. (T443). This powerful tool used by the trial judge was sufficient to protect appellant's constitutional privilege to remain silent. <u>Lakeside v. Oregon</u>, 435 U.S. 333, 98 S.Ct. 1091, 55 L.Ed.2d 319 (1978); <u>Andrews v. State</u>, 443 So.2d 78, 84 (Fla. 1983).

Finally, as to appellant's assertion the prosecutor's comment was reversible error based upon a theory of cumulative error, taken together with his complaint that hearsay evidence was admitted during the §921.141(1) hearing, appellee submits there cannot be cumulative error when there has been no error. (See Point I, supra).

- 23 -

CONCLUSION

The sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.